
On behalf of the Council of the Institute of Singapore Chartered Accountants (the “Institute”), we, Kon Yin Tong and Lee Fook 
Chiew, being the President and Chief Executive Officer respectively, do hereby state that in our opinion, the consolidated financial 
statements of the Institute and its subsidiaries (the “Group”) and financial statements of the Institute set out on pages 61 to 107 
are properly drawn up in accordance with the Societies Act, Chapter 311 and Financial Reporting Standards in Singapore so as 
to present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of the Group and the Institute as at 31 December 2019 and of its 
financial performance, changes in funds and cash flows of the Group and the Institute for the financial year ended on that date.

Kon Yin Tong      Lee Fook Chiew
President        Chief Executive Officer

5 March 2020
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REPORT ON THE AUDIT OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Opinion

We have audited the accompanying financial statements of Institute of Singapore Chartered Accountants (the “Institute”) and its 
subsidiaries (the “Group”) as set out on pages 61 to 107, which comprise the balance sheets of the Group and the Institute as at 31 
December 2019, the statements of profit or loss and other comprehensive income, statements of changes in funds and statements 
of cash flows of the Group and the Institute for the financial year then ended, and notes to the financial statements, including a 
summary of significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the accompanying consolidated financial statements of the Group and the financial statements of the Institute 
are properly drawn up in accordance with the Societies Act, Chapter 311 (the “Societies Act”) and Financial Reporting Standards 
in Singapore (“FRSs”) so as to present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of the Group and the Institute as at 31 
December 2019 and the financial performance, changes in funds and cash flows of the Group and the Institute for the financial 
year ended on that date.

Basis for Opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with Singapore Standards on Auditing (“SSAs”). Our responsibilities under those standards 
are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements section of our report. We are 
independent of the Group in accordance with the Accounting and Corporate Regulatory Authority (ACRA) Code of Professional 
Conduct and Ethics for Public Accountants and Accounting Entities (ACRA Code) together with the ethical requirements that are 
relevant to our audit of the financial statements in Singapore, and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance 
with these requirements and the ACRA Code. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate 
to provide a basis for our opinion.

Other Information

The Council is responsible for the other information. The other information comprises the Statement by Council as set out on 
page 57 and the information included in the Annual Report but does not include the financial statements and our auditor’s report 
thereon.

Our opinion on the financial statements does not cover the other information and we do not express any form of assurance 
conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so, 
consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the financial statements or our knowledge obtained in 
the audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is 
a material misstatement of this other information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

Responsibilities of the Council for the Financial Statements

The Council is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial statements in accordance with the Societies 
Act and FRSs, and for such internal control as the Council determines is necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements 
that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the financial statements, the Council is responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern, 
disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the Council 
either intends to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so.

The Council’s responsibilities include overseeing the Group’s financial reporting process.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT 



REPORT ON THE AUDIT OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONT’D)

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are free from material 
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is 
a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with SSAs will always detect a material 
misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the 
aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these financial 
statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with SSAs, we exercise professional judgement and maintain professional scepticism throughout 
the audit. We also:

•  Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error, design and 
perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a 
basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting 
from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal 
control.

•  Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in 
the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Group’s internal control.

•  Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related 
disclosures made by Council.

•  Conclude on the appropriateness of the Council’s use of the going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit 
evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on 
the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw 
attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, 
to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report. 
However, future events or conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as a going concern.

•  Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements, including the disclosures, and whether 
the financial statements represent the underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

•  Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the entities or business activities within 
the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. We are responsible for the direction, supervision 
and performance of the group audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the 
audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our audit.
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REPORT ON OTHER LEGAL AND REGULATORY REQUIREMENTS

In our opinion,

(i)  the accounting and other records required to be kept by the Institute have been properly kept in accordance with the 
provisions of the Societies Regulations enacted under the Societies Act; and

(ii)  the fund-raising appeal held during the financial year ended 31 December 2019 has been carried out in accordance with 
Regulation 6 of the Societies Regulations issued under the Societies Act and proper accounts and other records have been 
kept of the fund-raising appeal.

Baker Tilly TFW LLP
Public Accountants and
Chartered Accountants
Singapore

Tay Guat Peng
Engagement Partner
(Partner in charge since financial year ended 31 December 2017)

5 March 2020
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT 



Group Institute
2019 2018 2019 2018

Note $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Income
Members’ annual fees 12,397 12,202 12,397 12,202

Members’ admission fees 291 930 291 930

Income from Continuing Professional Education 5,924 5,733 5,924 5,733

Income from other training courses 1,923 2,670 1,923 2,670

Practice Monitoring income 783 391 783 391

Other registration and subscription fees 808 793 – –

Income from seminars, event and talks 1,544 1,482 1,391 1,354

Other income:

-  Interest income from financial institutions 252 235 235 223

-  Others 5 5,796 2,545 5,950 2,707

 

Total income 5 29,718 26,981 28,894 26,210

Less expenditure
Expenses (24,337) (24,052) (23,536) (23,333)

Surplus before results of associate 6 5,381 2,929 5,358 2,877

Share of results of associate
  (net of tax) 13 (8) (12) – –

Surplus before tax 5,373 2,917 5,358 2,877

Income tax expense 8 (367) (372) (363) (367)

5,006 2,545 4,995 2,510

Surplus from specific fund:
ISCA Cares Fund 25 153 116 – –

Net surplus and total
  comprehensive income
  for the financial year 5,159 2,661 4,995 2,510

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements.

For the financial year ended 31 December 2019
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Group Institute
2019 2018 2019 2018

Note $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Non-current assets
Property, plant and equipment 9 1,250 1,278 1,245 1,268

Right-of-use assets 10 5,717 – 5,717 –

Investment properties 11 11,090 11,392 11,090 11,392

Subsidiaries 12 – – – –

Associate 13 88 95 – –

Intangible assets 14 724 809 707 800

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 15 50,570 47,115 50,570 47,115

69,439 60,689 69,329 60,575

Current assets
Inventories 16 21 23 19 19

Contract assets 17 365 239 365 239

Trade and other receivables 19 2,681 3,612 2,768 3,900

Cash and cash equivalents 20 17,881 15,734 15,387 13,308

20,948 19,608 18,539 17,466

Total assets 90,387 80,297 87,868 78,041

Non-current liabilities
Deferred tax liabilities 21 112 63 112 63

Lease liabilities 22 3,729 – 3,729 –

Provisions 23 338 322 338 322

4,179 385 4,179 385

Current liabilities
Trade and other payables 24 5,049 5,114 4,838 5,001

Contract liabilities 18 2,524 3,476 2,519 3,472

Lease liabilities 22 1,997 – 1,997 –

Current tax payable 272 115 268 111

9,842 8,705 9,622 8,584

Total liabilities 14,021 9,090 13,801 8,969

Net assets 76,366 71,207 74,067 69,072

Represented by
Accumulated fund 75,654 70,648 74,067 69,072

ISCA Cares Fund 25 712 559 – –

76,366 71,207 74,067 69,072

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements.
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Accumulated 
Fund

ISCA Cares 
Fund Total

$’000 $’000 $’000

Group

Balance at 1 January 2018 68,103 443 68,546

Net surplus and total comprehensive income
 for the financial year 2,545 116 2,661

Balance at 31 December 2018 70,648 559 71,207

Net surplus and total comprehensive income
   for the financial year 5,006 153 5,159

Balance at 31 December 2019 75,654 712 76,366

Institute

Balance at 1 January 2018 66,562 – 66,562

Net surplus and total comprehensive income
   for the financial year 2,510 – 2,510

Balance at 31 December 2018 69,072 – 69,072

Net surplus and total comprehensive income
   for the financial year 4,995 – 4,995

Balance at 31 December 2019 74,067 – 74,067

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements.
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Group Institute
2019 2018 2019 2018
$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Cash flows from operating activities
Surplus before tax 5,373 2,917 5,358 2,877

Adjustments for:

Bad debts written off 4 19 22 19

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment,
 investment properties, right-of-use assets and      
 amortisation of intangible assets 3,196 996 3,187 989

Finance cost 5 4 5 4

Interest income (252) (235) (235) (223)

Interest expense on lease liabilities 65 – 65 –

Intangible asset written off 5 – 5 –

Net fair value (gain)/loss on financial assets at fair 
  value through profit or loss (3,750) 629 (3,750) 629

Property, plant and equipment written off 13 4 13 4

Loss/(gain) on disposal of financial assets at fair 
   value through profit or loss 26 (74) 26 (74)

Share of results of associate (net of tax) 8 12 – –

Operating surplus before working capital changes 4,693 4,272 4,696 4,225

Contract assets (126) (239) (126) (239)

Inventories 2 (6) – (4)

Receivables 940 (661) 1,116 (649)

Payables (385) (437) (494) (402)

Contract liabilities (952) 3,476 (953) 3,472

Course fees received in advance – (567) – (565)

Subscription fees received in advance – (3,189) – (3,187)

Cash generated from operations 4,172 2,649 4,239 2,651

Income tax paid (161) (3) (157) –

ISCA Cares Fund (Note 25) 153 116 – –

Net cash generated from operating activities 4,164 2,762 4,082 2,651

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements.
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Group Institute
2019 2018 2019 2018
$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Cash flows from investing activities
Fixed deposits pledged – (8) – (8)

Interest received 239 304 229 292

Goods and services tax on disposal of investment property – (2,948) – (2,948)

Financial assets at fair value to profit or loss – (47,520) – (47,520)

Purchases of property, plant and equipment (194) (158) (194) (158)

Additions to intangible assets (Note 14) (242) (94) (218) (94)

Proceeds from disposal of financial assets at fair
   value through profit or loss 214 144 214 144

Net cash generated from/(used in) investing activities 17 (50,280) 31 (50,292)

Cash flows from financing activities
Repayment of the lease liabilities (1,969) – (1,969) –

Interest paid (65) – (65) –

Net cash used in financing activities (2,034) – (2,034) –

Net increase/(decrease) in cash and cash equivalents 2,147 (47,518) 2,079 (47,641) 

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year 15,668 63,186 13,242 60,883

Cash and cash equivalents at end of year (Note 20) 17,815 15,668 15,321 13,242

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements.
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These notes form an integral part of and should be read in conjunction with the accompanying financial statements.

1  CORPORATE INFORMATION

The Institute (UEN No. T04SS0109E) is the national accountancy professional body in Singapore. It was established in June 
1963 as the Singapore Society of Accountants (“SSA”) under the SSA Ordinance 1963, then reconstituted and renamed 
the Institute of Certified Public Accountants of Singapore (“ICPAS”) on 11 February 1989 under the Accountants Act 1987. 
As of 31 March 2004, ICPAS was reconstituted as a society under the Societies Act. The restructuring is primarily a change 
of form for the Institute as ICPAS continued to be the national body for the accountancy profession in Singapore and its 
functions remain unchanged. In 2013, ICPAS was renamed as the Institute of Singapore Chartered Accountants (“ISCA”). 
The registered office and principal place of business of the Institute is located at 60 Cecil Street, ISCA House, Singapore 
049709.

The principal activities of the Institute are those of administering the Institute’s membership, catering for the training and 
professional development of its members. The principal activities of the subsidiaries are disclosed in Note 12.

The consolidated financial statements relate to the Institute and its subsidiaries (collectively, the “Group”) and the Group’s 
interest in associate.

2  SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

a)  Basis of preparation

The financial statements of the Group have been prepared in accordance with the Societies Act, Chapter 311 and 
Financial Reporting Standards in Singapore (“FRSs”).

The financial statements, which are presented in Singapore dollar (“$”) (rounded to the nearest thousand ($’000) 
except when otherwise stated), have been prepared on the historical cost basis except as disclosed in the accounting 
policies below.

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with FRSs requires the use of estimates and assumptions that 
affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of 
the financial statements and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the financial year. Although 
these estimates are based on Council’s best knowledge of current events and actions and historical experiences and 
various other factors that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances, actual results may ultimately differ 
from those estimates.

Use of estimates and judgements

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are 
recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised if the revision affects only that period, or in the period of the 
revision and future periods if the revision affects both current and future periods. The areas involving a higher degree 
of judgement or complexity or areas where assumptions significant to the financial statements are disclosed in Note 4.

New and revised standards

In the current financial year, the Group has adopted all the new and revised FRSs and Interpretations of FRSs (“INT 
FRSs”) that are relevant to its operations and effective for the current financial year. Changes to the Group’s accounting 
policies have been made as required, in accordance with the transitional provisions in the respective FRSs and INT 
FRSs.

The adoption of these new/revised FRSs and INT FRSs did not have any material effect on the financial results or 
position of the Group and the Institute, except as disclosed in Note 3.

New standards, amendments to standards and interpretations that have been issued at the balance sheet date but 
are not yet effective for the financial year ended 31 December 2019 have not been applied in preparing these financial 
statements. None of these are expected to have a significant effect on the financial statements of the Group and the 
Institute.
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2  SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONT’D)

b)  Basis of consolidation

Subsidiaries

Subsidiaries are entities controlled by the Group. The Group controls an entity when the Group is exposed to, or has 
rights to, variable returns from its involvement with the entity and has the ability to affect those returns through its 
power over the entity.

The consolidated financial statements comprise the financial statements of the Institute and its subsidiaries as at the 
balance sheet date. The financial statements of the subsidiaries are prepared for the same reporting date as the parent 
entity. Consistent accounting policies are applied for like transactions and events in similar circumstances.

Intragroup balances and transactions, including income, expenditure and dividends, are eliminated in full. Profits and 
losses resulting from intragroup transactions that are recognised in assets, such as inventory and property, plant and 
equipment, are eliminated in full.

Subsidiaries are consolidated from the date of acquisition, being the date on which the Group obtains control, and 
continue to be consolidated until the date that such control ceases.

Business combinations are accounted for using the acquisition method. The consideration transferred for the 
acquisition comprises the fair value of the assets transferred, the liabilities incurred and the equity interests issued by 
the Group. The consideration transferred also includes the fair value of any contingent consideration arrangement 
and the fair value of any pre-existing equity interest in the subsidiary. Acquisition-related costs are recognised as 
expenditure as incurred. Identifiable assets acquired and liabilities and contingent liabilities assumed in a business 
combination are measured initially at their fair values at the acquisition date.

When a change in the Institute’s ownership interest in a subsidiary results in a loss of control over the subsidiary, the 
assets and liabilities of the subsidiary including any goodwill, non-controlling interest and other components of equity 
related to the subsidiary are derecognised. Amounts recognised in other comprehensive income in respect of that 
entity are also reclassified to profit or loss or transferred directly to accumulated fund if required by a specific FRS.

Associate

Associate is an entity in which the Group has significant influence, but not control, over their financial and operating 
policies of the entity. The Group’s investment in associate is accounted for using the equity method of accounting, less 
impairment losses, if any. The consolidated financial statements include the Group’s share of the profit or loss of the 
associate from the date that significant influence commences until the date that significant influence ceases. When the 
Group’s share of losses exceeds its interest in the associate, the carrying amount of that interest (including any long-
term investments) is reduced to zero and the recognition of further losses is discontinued except to the extent that the 
Group has an obligation or has made payments on behalf of the associate.

Accounting for subsidiaries and associate by the Institute

In the Institute’s separate financial statements, investments in subsidiaries and associate are stated at cost less 
impairment losses. On disposal of the investment, the difference between disposal proceeds and the carrying amounts 
of the investments are recognised in profit or loss.
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2  SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONT’D)

c)  Functional and foreign currencies

Functional currency

Items included in the financial statements of each entity in the Group are measured using the currency of the primary 
economic environment in which that entity operates (“the functional currency”). The financial statements of the Group 
and the Institute are presented in Singapore dollar, which is the Institute’s functional currency.

Foreign currencies

Transactions in foreign currencies are translated into the functional currency using the exchange rate in effect at the 
date of the transaction. Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies at the balance sheet date 
are translated into the functional currency at the rates ruling at that date. All exchange differences are taken to profit 
or loss.

d)  Inventories

Inventories, comprising commemorative gold coins, notebooks, merchandise for E-store and pouches, are stated at 
the lower of cost and net realisable value. Cost is calculated using the first-in, first-out method.

e)  Property, plant and equipment 

Property, plant and equipment are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and impairment losses.

Cost includes expenditure that is directly attributable to the acquisition of the asset and costs of bringing the asset to 
working condition for its intended use. Dismantlement, removal or restoration costs are included as part of the cost of 
asset if the obligation for dismantlement, removal or restoration costs is incurred as a consequence of acquiring or using 
the asset.  Expenditure for additions, improvements and renewals are capitalised and expenditure for maintenance 
and repairs are charged to expenditure. The cost of replacing part of an item of property, plant and equipment is 
recognised in the carrying amount of the item if it is probable that the future economic benefits embodied within the 
part will flow to the Group and its cost can be measured reliably. The costs of the day-to-day servicing of property, 
plant and equipment are recognised in profit or loss as incurred.

An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised upon disposal or when no future economic benefits are 
expected from its use or disposal. Any gain or loss arising on derecognition of the asset is included in profit or loss in 
the year the asset is derecognised.

Depreciation of other property, plant and equipment is calculated on the straight-line basis to write off the cost less 
residual value of the assets over their estimated useful lives as follows:

             Years
Furniture and office equipment    4 to 10
Computers        3 to 4
Renovation        3 to 12

Depreciation methods, useful lives and residual values are reviewed, and adjusted as appropriate, at each financial 
year-end. The effects of any revision are recognised in profit or loss when the changes arise.
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2  SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONT’D)

f)  Investment properties

Investment properties, comprise freehold building of the Group and the Institute, that are leased out to earn rental. 
Investment properties are initially recognised at cost and subsequently carried at cost less accumulated depreciation 
and accumulated impairment losses. Depreciation of the buildings is calculated using the straight-line method to 
allocate the depreciable amounts over the estimated useful life of 50 years.

Transfers are made to or from investment property only when there is a change in use. When transfer is made between 
investment property and owner-occupied property, its carrying amount (cost less accumulated depreciation and 
impairment) at the date of transfer becomes its carrying amount for subsequent accounting.

On disposal of investment property, the difference between the disposal proceeds and the carrying amount is 
recognised in profit or loss.

g)  Intangible assets

Acquired intellectual property and website development includes development costs which relate to the design and 
testing of new or improved learning materials which are recognised as an asset to the extent that it is expected that 
such assets will generate future economic benefits.

Deferred development costs are amortised from the date that the new or improved learning materials are put into use. 
Such costs are subsequently amortised on a straight-line basis over their useful lives of 3 years.

Computer software is stated at cost less accumulated amortisation and accumulated impairment losses. Amortisation 
is calculated using the straight-line method to allocate the cost of the computer software over their estimated useful 
lives of 3 to 5 years.

No amortisation is provided on system work-in-progress. Amortisation of the system, on the same basis as other 
intangible assets, commences when the asset is ready for its intended use.

The amortisation period and amortisation method of intangible assets are reviewed at least at each balance sheet 
date. The effects of any revision are recognised in profit or loss when the changes arise.

h)  Impairment of non-financial assets

The carrying amounts of the Group’s assets are reviewed at each reporting date to determine whether there is any 
indication of impairment. If any such indication exists, the asset’s recoverable amount is estimated.

An impairment loss is recognised in profit or loss if the carrying amount of an asset or its cash-generating unit exceeds 
its recoverable amount. A cash-generating unit is the smallest identifiable group of assets that generates cash inflows 
that are largely independent from other assets or groups of assets.

The recoverable amount of an asset or cash-generating unit is the higher of its fair value less costs of disposal and its value 
in use. In assessing the value in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax 
discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the asset or 
cash-generating unit.

Impairment losses recognised in prior years are assessed at each reporting date for any indications that the loss has 
decreased or no longer exists. An impairment loss is reversed if there has been a change in the estimates used to 
determine the recoverable amount. An impairment loss is reversed only to the extent that the asset’s carrying amount 
does not exceed the carrying amount that would have been determined, net of depreciation, if no impairment loss 
has been recognised. Reversal of impairment loss is recorded in profit or loss. After such a reversal, the depreciation 
charge is adjusted in future periods to allocate the asset’s revised carrying amount, less any residual value, on a 
systematic basis over its remaining useful life.
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2  SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONT’D)

i)  Financial assets

Recognition and derecognition

Regular way purchases and sales of financial assets are recognised on trade date - the date on which the Group 
commits to purchase or sell the asset. Financial assets are derecognised when the rights to receive cash flows from the 
financial assets have expired or have been transferred and the Group has transferred substantially all risks and rewards 
of ownership.

Financial assets are initially measured at fair value. Transaction costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition of 
financial assets (other than financial assets at fair value through profit or loss) are added to the fair value of the financial 
assets on initial recognition. Transaction costs directly attributable to acquisition of financial assets at fair value through 
profit or loss are recognised immediately in profit or loss. Trade receivables without a significant financing component 
is initially measured at transaction prices.

Classification and measurement

All financial assets are subsequently measured in their entirety at either amortised cost or fair value, depending on the 
classification of the financial assets.

The Group classifies its financial assets in the following measurement categories:

•  Amortised cost; and
•  Fair value through profit or loss (“FVTPL”).

The classification is based on the entity’s business model for managing the financial asset and the contractual cash flow 
characteristics of the financial assets.

The Group reclassifies financial assets when and only when its business model for managing those assets changes.

Subsequent measurement

i)  Debt instruments

Debt instruments include trade and other receivables (excluding prepayments) and cash and cash equivalents. 
The subsequent measurement category is depending on the Group’s business model for managing the asset 
and cash flow characteristics of the asset:

Amortised cost

The Group measures financial assets at amortised cost if both of the following conditions are met:

•  The financial asset is held within a business model with the objective to hold financial assets in order to 
collect contractual cash flows; and

•  The contractual terms of the financial asset give rise on specific dates to cash flows that are solely payments 
of principal and interest on the principal amount outstanding.

Financial assets at amortised cost are subsequently measured using the effective interest rate (EIR) method and 
are subject to impairment. Gains and losses are recognised in profit or loss when the asset is derecognised, 
modified or impaired. Interest income from these financial assets is included in interest income using the EIR 
method.

Fair value through profit or loss (“FVTPL”)

Debts instruments that are held for trading as well as those that do not meet the criteria for classification as 
amortised cost or Fair value through other comprehensive income (“FVOCI”) are classified as FVTPL. Movements 
in fair values and interest income are recognised in profit or loss in the period in which it arises and presented 
in “Other income”.
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2  SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONT’D)

i)  Financial assets (cont’d)

Subsequent measurement (cont’d)

ii)  Equity instruments

The Group subsequently measures all its equity investments at their fair values. Equity investments are classified 
as FVTPL with movements in their fair values recognised in profit or loss in the period in which the changes 
arise and presented in “Other income or Expenses”. On disposal of an equity investment classified as FVTPL, 
the difference between the carrying amount and sales proceed amount would be recognised in profit or loss. 
Dividends from equity investments are recognised in profit or loss and presented in “Other income”.

iii)  Funds placed with fund managers

The Group and the Institute classify a portfolio of financial assets that is managed and whose performance is 
evaluated on a fair value basis as financial assets at fair value through profit or loss. Such portfolio of financial 
assets is neither held to collect contractual cash flows nor held both to collect contractual cash flows and to 
sell financial assets. The collection of contractual cash flows is only incidental to achieving the business model’s 
objective. The Group’s and the Institute’s primary focus on a portfolio of financial assets is on the fair value 
information and uses that information to assess the assets’ performance and to make decisions.

Impairment

The Group recognises an allowance for expected credit losses (“ECLs”) for financial assets carried at amortised cost. 
ECLs are based on the difference between the contractual cash flows due in accordance with the contract and all the 
cash flows that the Group expects to receive, discounted at an approximation of the original effective interest rate.

The impairment methodology applied depends on whether there has been a significant increase in credit risk. For 
credit exposures for which there has not been a significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition, ECLs are 
provided for credit losses that result from default events that are possible within the next 12-months (a 12-month ECL). 
For those credit exposures for which there has been a significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition, a loss 
allowance is required for credit losses expected over the remaining life of the exposure, irrespective of the timing of 
the default (a lifetime ECL).

For trade receivables that do not have a significant financing component, the Group applies a simplified approach to 
recognise a loss allowance based on lifetime ECLs at balance sheet date. The Group based on its historical credit loss 
experience, adjusts as appropriate for current conditions and forward-looking factors specific to the debtors and the 
economic environment.

If the Group has measured the loss allowance for a financial asset at an amount equal to lifetime ECL in the previous 
reporting period, but determines at the current reporting date that the conditions for lifetime ECL are no longer met, 
the Group measures the loss allowance at an amount equal to 12-month ECL at the current reporting date.

The Group recognises an impairment gain or loss in profit or loss for all financial assets with a corresponding adjustment 
to their carrying amount through a loss allowance account.

j)  Financial liabilities

Financial liabilities include trade and other payables (excluding accrual for unutilised annual leave). Financial liabilities 
are recognised on the balance sheet when, and only when, the Group becomes a party to the contractual provisions 
of the financial instrument. Financial liabilities are initially recognised at fair value plus directly attributable transaction 
costs and subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method.

Gains and losses are recognised in profit or loss when the liabilities are derecognised as well as through the amortisation 
process. The liabilities are derecognised when the obligation under the liability is discharged or cancelled or expired.
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2  SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONT’D)

k)  Provisions

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present obligation (legal or constructive) where, as a result of a 
past event, and it is probable that an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits will be required to settle 
the obligation and a reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation. Provisions are reviewed at each 
balance sheet date and adjusted to reflect the current best estimate. Where the effect of time value of money is 
material, the amount of the provision is the present value of the expenditure expected to be required to settle the 
obligation.

The Group recognises the estimated costs of dismantlement, removal or restoration of items of assets arising from 
the acquisition or use of assets (Note 2(e) and Note 2(l)). This provision is estimated based on the best estimate of the 
expenditure required to settle the obligation, taking into consideration time value of money. Changes in the estimated 
timing or amount of the expenditure or discount rate is adjusted against the cost of the related assets unless the 
decrease in the liability exceeds the carrying amount of the asset or the asset has reached the end of useful life. In such 
cases, the excess of the decrease over the carrying amount of the assets or the change in the liability is recognised in 
profit or loss immediately.

l)  Leases

The accounting policy for leases before 1 January 2019 is as follows:

Lessee – operating leases

Leases where a significant portion of the risks and rewards of ownership are retained by the lessor are classified as 
operating leases. Payments made under operating leases (net of any incentives received from the lessor) are taken to 
profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the period of the lease.

When an operating lease is terminated before the lease period has expired, any payment required to be made to the 
lessor by way of penalty is recognised as an expenditure in the period in which termination takes place.

Lessor – operating leases

Leases where the Group retains substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of the asset are classified as 
operating leases. Rental income (net of any incentives given to lessees) is recognised on a straight-line basis over the 
lease term.

The accounting policy for leases after 1 January 2019 is as follows:

The Group assesses at contract inception whether a contract is, or contains, a lease. That is, if the contract conveys the 
right to control the use of an identified asset for a period of time in exchange for consideration.

When a Group entity is the lessee

The Group applies a single recognition and measurement approach for all contracts that are, or contain, a lease, except 
for short-term leases (i.e. for leases that have a lease term of 12 months or less from the commencement date and 
do not contain a purchase option) and leases of low-value assets (e.g. leases of tablet and personal computers, small 
items of office equipment and telephones). For these exempted leases, the Group recognises the lease payments 
as an operating expense on a straight-line basis over the term of the lease unless another systematic basis is more 
representative of the time pattern in which economic benefits from the leased assets are consumed.
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2  SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONT’D)

l)  Leases (cont’d)

The accounting policy for leases after 1 January 2019 is as follows (cont’d):

When a Group entity is the lessee (cont’d)

Lease liabilities

The lease liability is initially measured at the present value of the lease payments that are not paid at the commencement 
date, discounted by using the rate implicit in the lease. If this rate cannot be readily determined, the Group uses its 
incremental borrowing rate.

Lease payments included in the measurement of the lease liability comprise fixed lease payments (including in-
substance fixed payments) less any lease incentives receivable, variable lease payments that depend on an index or a 
rate, and amounts expected to be paid under residual value guarantees. The lease payments also include the exercise 
price of a purchase option reasonably certain to be exercised by the Group and payments of penalties for terminating 
the lease, if the lease term reflects the Group exercising the option to terminate. Variable lease payments that do 
not depend on an index or a rate are recognised as expenses (unless they are incurred to produce inventories) in the 
period in which the event or condition that triggers the payment occurs.

The lease liability is presented as a separate line in the balance sheets. The lease liability is subsequently measured 
by increasing the carrying amount to reflect interest on the lease liability using the effective interest method, 
and reducing the carrying amount to reflect the lease payments made. The Group remeasures the lease liability  
(and makes a corresponding adjustment to the related right-of-use asset) whenever there is a modification, a change 
in the lease term, a change in the lease payments (e.g., changes to future payments resulting from a change in an 
index or rate used to determine such lease payments) or a change in the assessment of an option to purchase the 
underlying asset.

Right-of-use assets

The Group recognises right-of-use assets at the commencement date of the lease (i.e., the date the underlying asset 
is available for use). The right-of-use assets comprise the initial measurement of the corresponding lease liability, lease 
payments made at or before the commencement date, initial direct cost, less any lease incentive received. Whenever 
the Group incurs an obligation for costs to dismantle and remove a leased asset, restore the site on which it is located 
or restore the underlying asset to the condition required by the terms and conditions of the lease, a provision is 
recognised and measured under FRS 37. To the extent that the cost relates to a right-of-use asset, the costs are 
included in the related right-of-use asset, unless those costs are incurred to produce inventories.

Right-of-use assets are subsequently measured at cost, less any accumulated depreciation and impairment losses, and 
adjusted for any remeasurement of lease liabilities. Right-of-use assets are depreciated on a straight-line basis over 
the shorter period of the lease term and useful life of the underlying asset. If ownership of the leased asset transfers to 
the Group at the end of the lease term or the cost reflects the exercise of a purchase option, depreciation is calculated 
using the estimated useful life of the asset. The depreciation starts at the commencement date of the lease.

The right-of use assets (except for those which meets the definition of an investment property) are presented as a 
separate line in the balance sheets. 

The Group applies FRS 36 to determine whether a right-of-use asset is impaired and accounts for any identified 
impairment loss as described in note 2(h). 
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2  SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONT’D)

l)  Leases (cont’d)

The accounting policy for leases after 1 January 2019 is as follows (cont’d):

When a Group entity is the lessor

Leases for which the Group is a lessor are classified as finance or operating leases. Whenever the terms of the lease 
transfer substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership to the lessee, the contract is classified as a finance lease. 
All other leases are classified as operating leases.

Rental income from operating leases is recognised on a straight-line basis over the term of the relevant lease. Initial 
direct cost incurred in negotiating and arranging an operating lease are added to the carrying amount of the leased 
asset and recognised on a straight-line basis over the lease term.

Amounts due from lessees under finance leases are recognised as receivables at the amount of the Group’s net 
investment in the leases. Finance income is allocated to accounting periods so as to reflect a constant periodic rate of 
return on the Group’s net investment outstanding in respect of the leases.

When a contract includes both lease and non-lease components, the Group applies FRS 115 to allocate the 
consideration under the contract to each component.

m)  Cash and cash equivalents in the statements of cash flows

For the purpose of presentation on the statements of cash flows, cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand 
and demand deposits, and other short-term highly liquid investments that are readily convertible to a known amount 
of cash and are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value and excludes pledge deposits.

n)  Revenue recognition

Revenue is measured based on the consideration to which the Group and the Institute expect to be entitled in 
exchange for transferring promised goods or services to the customer.

Revenue is recognised when the Group satisfies a performance obligation by transferring a promised good or service 
to the customer, which is when the customer obtains control of the good or service. A performance obligation may 
be satisfied at a point in time or over time. The amount of revenue recognised is the amount allocated to the satisfied 
performance obligation.

(i)  Members’ annual fees and Members’ admission fees

The Institute is the national accountancy professional body and provides membership services to its members. 
Such members’ annual fees are recognised as a performance obligation satisfied over time. Member’s annual fee 
is recognised as income in the period to which the annual fees relates. Unearned income relating to future period 
is included in contract liabilities. The members’ annual fee is non-refundable and payable upon membership 
renewal.

The Group provides members administrative services in the application of membership status. The admission fees 
are due upon submission of membership application and non-refundable. The admission fees are recognised as 
income in the year during which membership commences, or upon an event that the application is unsuccessful. 
Unearned income relating to service to be rendered in future periods is included in contract liabilities.
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2  SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONT’D)

n)  Revenue recognition (cont’d)

(ii)  Services

-  Course fees (from continuing professional education, training and seminars), subscription fees and 
management fees

The Group provides training courses relating to the continuing professional education for its members. 
Such services are recognised as a performance obligation satisfied over time. Income from course fees, 
subscription fees and management fees are recognised as a performance obligation satisfied over time and 
are recognised over the duration of the programmes and in the period during which service is provided, 
having regards to the stage of completion of the service. Unearned income relating to service to be 
rendered in future periods is included in contract liabilities. Subscription fees are recognised as income in 
the year to which the subscription relates. The above fees are due upon registration, and non-refundable.

-  Administrative fee income

Prior to 1 July 2019, administrative fee income from the administration of Singapore CA Qualification (“CA 
Qualification”) is recognised net of expenditure incurred. The net amount of the income recognised is 
derived based on a pre-determined fixed percentage of the pre-approved expenditure incurred for the 
CA Qualification. The Group will bill client in accordance to the billing terms in the service agreement and 
payment within 30 days from the invoice date is required. 

From 1 July 2019, the administration of Singapore CA Qualification (“CA Qualification”) was revised and a 
new contract was entered into. Administrative fee income from CA Qualification is subsequently recognised 
as a performance obligation satisfied over time. Revenue is recognised over the duration of the service 
period provided, having regards to the stage of completion determined based on man hours incurred to 
date over the budgeted man hours. A contract asset is recognised when the Group has performed under 
the contract but has not yet billed the client. The Group will bill client in accordance to the billing terms 
in the service agreement and payment within 30 days from the invoice date is required. No element of 
financing is deemed present. Direct expenses incurred by the Group is reimbursed at cost. 

-  Practice monitoring review income

Practice monitoring review income from inspection services on audits performed by public accountants 
are recognised as a performance obligation satisfied over time. The services performed has no alternative 
use due to the contractual restriction and the Group has enforceable rights to payment arising from the 
contractual terms. Revenue is recognised over the duration of the service period provided, having regards 
to the stage of completion determined based on man hours incurred to date over the budgeted man 
hours. A contract asset is recognised when the Group has performed under the contract but has not yet 
billed the client. The Group will bill client in accordance to the billing terms in the service agreement and 
payment within 30 days from the invoice date is required. No element of financing is deemed present.

(iii)  Interest income

Interest income is recognised as the interest accrues based on effective interest method.

(iv)  Rental income

Rental income from operating leases are recognised on a straight-line basis over the lease term. The aggregate 
costs of incentives provided to lessees are recognised as a reduction of rental income over the lease term on a 
straight-line basis. 
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2  SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONT’D)

o)  Employee benefits

Defined contribution plans

As required by law, the Group makes contributions to the state pension scheme, the Central Provident Fund (“CPF”) 
Scheme which is a defined contribution pension scheme. Contributions to CPF are recognised as expenditure in the 
period in which the related service is performed.

Employee leave entitlement

Employee entitlements to annual leave are recognised when they accrue to employees. The estimated liability for 
leave is recognised for services rendered by employees up to the balance sheet date.

p)  Income tax

Income tax on the profit or loss for the year comprises current and deferred tax. Current and deferred tax are 
recognised in profit or loss except to the extent that they relate to items recognised outside profit or loss, either in 
other comprehensive income or directly in equity in which the tax is also recognised outside profit or loss (either in 
other comprehensive income or directly in equity respectively).

Current tax is the expected tax payable on the taxable income for the year, using tax rates enacted or substantively 
enacted at the balance sheet date, and any adjustment to tax payable in respect of previous years. Management 
periodically evaluates positions taken in tax returns with respect to situations in which applicable tax regulation is 
subject to interpretation. It establishes provisions, where appropriate, on the basis of amounts expected to be paid 
to the tax authorities.

Deferred tax is recognised, using the liability method, providing for all temporary differences at the balance sheet date 
between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts in the financial statements except where 
the deferred income tax arises from the initial recognition of goodwill or an asset or liability in a transaction that is not 
a business combination, and at the time of the transaction, affects neither the accounting nor taxable profit or loss.

Deferred tax assets are recognised to the extent that it is probable that future taxable profit will be available against 
which the deductible temporary differences can be utilised.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that are expected to apply in the year when the asset 
is realised or the liability is settled, based on currently enacted or substantively enacted tax rates at the balance sheet 
date.

q)  Government grants

Government grants are recognised at their fair value where there is reasonable assurance that the grant will be received 
and all attaching conditions will be complied with. Where the grant relates to an asset, the fair value is recognised 
as deferred capital grant on the balance sheet and is amortised to profit or loss over the expected useful life of the 
relevant asset by equal annual instalments.

When the grant relates to an expenditure item, it is recognised in profit or loss over the period necessary to match 
them on a systematic basis to the costs that it is intended to compensate.
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3  INTERPRETATIONS AND AMENDMENTS TO PUBLISHED STANDARDS EFFECTIVE IN 2019

FRS 116 Leases

When the Group is the lessee

FRS 116 replaces the existing FRS 17: Leases for financial periods beginning 1 January 2019. It reforms lessee accounting by 
introducing a single lessee accounting model. Lessees are required to recognise all leases on their balance sheets to reflect 
their rights to use leased assets (a “right-of-use” asset) and the associated obligations for lease payments (a lease liability), 
with limited exemptions for short term leases (less than 12 months) and leases of low value items. In addition, the nature of 
expenses related to those leases will change as FRS 116 replaces the straight-line operating lease expense with depreciation 
charge of right-of-use asset and interest expense on lease liability.

On adoption of FRS 116, the Group recognised lease liabilities in relation to leases which had previously been classified 
as “Operating Leases” under FRS 17 Leases. These liabilities were measured at the present value of the remaining lease 
payments, discounted using the Group’s incremental borrowing rate as at 1 January 2019. The weighted average lessee’s 
incremental borrowing rate applied to the lease liabilities on 1 January 2019 was 3.24%.

Group 
and 

Institute
2019
$’000

Operating lease commitments disclosed
   as at 31 December 2018 1,739

Discounted using the weighted average lessee’s 
   incremental borrowing rate (42)

Lease liability recognised as at 1 January 2019 1,697

The associated right-of-use assets were measured at the amount equal to the lease liability (adjusted for any prepaid 
or accrued lease payment) on adoption. Arising from the adoption of FRS 116, right-of-use assets and lease liability of 
$1,697,000 respectively were recognised on the consolidated balance sheets on 1 January 2019. The Group and the Institute 
reclassified property, plant and equipment to right-of-use assets amounting to $149,000.

In applying FRS 116 for the first time, the Group has used the following practical expedients permitted by the standard:

•  use of a single discount rate to a portfolio of leases with reasonably similar characteristics;
•  rely on previous assessment of whether leases are onerous immediately before the date of initial application as an 

alternative to performing an impairment review;
•  exclude initial direct costs for the measurement of the right-of-use asset at the date of initial application; and
•  use of hindsight in determining the lease term where the contract contains options to extend or terminate the lease.

When the Group is the lessor

There are no material changes to accounting by the Group as a lessor.
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4  CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY

Critical judgements in applying the entity’s accounting policies

In the process of applying the Group’s accounting policies, which are described in Note 2, management has made the 
following judgements that have the most significant effect on the amounts recognised in the financial statements (apart from 
those involving estimations, which are dealt in the preceding paragraphs).

Business model assessment

Classification and measurement of financial assets depends on the cashflows that are solely payments of principal and 
interest (“SPPI”) and the results of the business model test (refer to Note 2(i)). The Group and the Institute determine 
the business model at a level that reflects how groups of financial assets are managed together to achieve a particular 
business objective. This assessment includes judgement reflecting all relevant evidence including how the performance of 
the assets is evaluated and their performance measured, the risks that affect the performance of the assets and how these 
are managed and how the managers of the assets are compensated.

The Group and the Institute classify a portfolio of financial assets that is managed and whose performance is evaluated 
on a fair value basis as financial assets at fair value through profit or loss. Such portfolio of financial assets is neither held 
to collect contractual cash flows nor held both to collect contractual cash flows and to sell financial assets. The collection 
of contractual cash flows is only incidental to achieving the business model’s objective. The Group’s and the Institute’s 
primary focus on a portfolio of financial assets is on the fair value information and uses that information to assess the assets’ 
performance and to make decisions.

The Group and the Institute monitor financial assets measured at amortised cost that are derecognised prior to their maturity 
to understand the reasons for their disposal and whether the reasons are consistent with the objective of the business for 
which the asset was held. Financial assets are not reclassified subsequent to their initial recognition unless the Group 
and the Institute change its business model for managing financial assets, in which case all affected financial assets are 
reclassified on the first day of the first reporting period following the change in the business model.

Determining the lease term

In determining the lease term, management considers all facts and circumstances that create an economic incentive to 
exercise an extension option. Extension options are only included in the lease term if the lease is reasonably certain to be 
extended.

For leases of office space and equipment, the following factors are considered to be most relevant:

•  If any leasehold improvements are expected to have a significant remaining value, the Group includes the extension 
option in lease liabilities; and

•  The Group considers other factors including its historical lease periods and the costs and business disruption required 
to replace the leased asset.

The assessment of reasonable certainty to exercise extension option is only revised if a significant change in circumstances 
occurs which affects this assessment, and that is within the control of the lessee. During the current financial year, the 
financial effect of revising lease terms to reflect the effect of exercising extension options was an increase in recognised 
lease liabilities and right-of-use assets of $5,998,000.

ISCA
annual report 2019/202078 Visionary

Excellence

For the financial year ended 31 December 2019

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONT’D)



4  CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY   
  (CONT’D)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty

The key assumptions concerning the future, and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the balance sheet date, 
that have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next 
financial year, are discussed below.

Income taxes

The Group and the Institute recognise liabilities for expected tax issues based on reasonable estimates of whether additional 
taxes will be due. Where the final tax outcome of these matters is different from the amounts that were initially recognised, 
such differences will impact the income tax and deferred tax provisions in the period in which such determination is made. 
The carrying amounts of the Group’s income tax payable and deferred tax liabilities at the balance sheet date was $272,000 
(2018: $115,000) and $112,000 (2018: $63,000) respectively. The carrying amounts of the Institute’s income tax payable and 
deferred tax liabilities at the balance sheet date was $268,000 (2018: $111,000) and $112,000 (2018: $63,000) respectively.

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment and investment properties

The cost of property, plant and equipment and investment properties are depreciated on a straight-line basis over their 
respective useful lives. Management estimates the useful lives of these property, plant and equipment and investment 
properties to be within 3 to 50 years. The estimation of the useful lives and residual amount involves assumptions concerning 
the future and estimations of the assets common life expectancies and expected level of usage. Any changes in the 
expected useful lives of these assets would affect the net carrying amounts of property, plant and equipment and investment 
properties, and the depreciation charges for the financial year.

The carrying amounts of the Group’s and the Institute’s property, plant and equipment and investment properties as at 31 
December 2019 and the annual depreciation charges for the financial year ended 31 December 2019 are disclosed in Notes 
9 and 11 respectively.

Amortisation of intangible assets

The Group and the Institute review the useful lives of intangible assets at the balance sheet date in accordance with the 
accounting policy in Note 2(g). Changes in circumstances, such as technological or other types of obsolescence, could result 
in the actual useful lives differing from the management’s current estimates. The net carrying amount of intangible assets at 
31 December 2019 and the annual amortisation charge for the financial year ended 31 December 2019 are disclosed in Note 
14. Any changes in the expected useful lives of these assets would affect the net carrying amount of intangible assets, and 
the amortisation charge for the financial year.

Calculation of loss allowance

When measuring ECL, the Group and the Institute use reasonable and supportable forward-looking information, which is 
based on assumptions and forecasts of future economic conditions. Loss given default is an estimate of the loss arising on 
default. It is based on the difference between the contractual cash flows due and those that the lender would expect to 
receive, taking into account cash flows from collateral and integral credit enhancements. 

Probability of default constitutes a key input in measuring ECL. Probability of default is an estimate of the likelihood of 
default over a given time horizon, the calculation of which includes historical data, assumptions and expectations of future 
conditions.

As the calculation of loss allowance on trade receivables is subject to assumptions and forecasts, any changes to these 
estimations will affect the amounts of loss allowance recognised and the carrying amounts of trade receivables. Details of 
ECL measurement and carrying value of trade receivables at reporting date are disclosed in Note 29.
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4  CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY   
  (CONT’D)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty (cont’d)

Impairment of non-current assets

Management assesses whether there are any indicators of impairment for all non-current assets at each balance sheet date. 
Non-current assets are tested for impairment when there are indicators that the carrying amounts may not be recoverable. 
An impairment exists when the carrying value of an asset or cash-generating unit exceeds its recoverable amount, which is 
the higher of its fair value less costs of disposal and its value in use.

When value in use calculations are undertaken, management is required to estimate the expected future cash flows from 
the asset or cash-generating unit and a suitable discount rate, in order to determine the present value of those cash flows.

The carrying amounts of the Group and Institute’s property, plant and equipment, right-of-use assets, investment properties 
and intangible assets are disclosed in Notes 9, 10, 11 and 14 respectively.

Estimating the incremental borrowing rate for leases

The Group uses the incremental borrowing rate to measure the lease liabilities because the interest rate implicit in the lease 
is not readily determinable. The incremental borrowing rate is the rate of interest that a lessee would have to pay to borrow 
over a similar term, and with a similar security, the funds necessary to obtain an asset of a similar value to the right-of-use 
asset in a similar economic environment. The incremental borrowing rate therefore reflects what the Group “would have 
to pay”, which requires estimation when no observable rates are available or when they need to be adjusted to reflect the 
terms and conditions of the lease. The Group estimates the incremental borrowing rate using observable inputs such as 
market interest rates, when available and is required to make certain entity-specific estimates, such as the stand-alone credit 
rating.  Any change in estimation of incremental borrowing rate may have a significant impact to the determination of lease 
liabilities and right-of-use asset at the date of initial application of FRS 116 or on the commencement date of new leasing 
transactions. The carrying amount of right-of-use assets and lease liabilities are disclosed in notes 10 and 22 respectively.

5  INCOME

Group Institute
2019 2018 2019 2018
$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Other income
Advertising income 67 90 67 90

CA Qualification net administrative fee 170 117 170 117

Government grants 244 174 237 174

Net fair value gain with respect to financial assets at FVTPL 3,750 – 3,750 –

Gain on disposal of financial ssets at FVTPL – 74 – 74

Management fees 15 15 172 175

Other fees 99 174 99 174

Rental income from investment properties 957 941 957 941

Rental income - others 17 15 17 15

Sundry income 477 945 481 947

5,796 2,545 5,950 2,707
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5  INCOME (CONT’D)

The Singapore CA Qualification (“CA Qualification”) net of administrative fee comprises the net amount of the income 
recognised derived based on a pre-determined percentage of the pre-approved expenditure incurred by the Group and 
Institute to administer the CA Qualification for 1 January 2019 to 30 June 2019, and income recognised over the duration of 
the services provided, having regards to the stage of completion with effect from 1 July 2019 which includes the following:

Group Institute
2019 2018 2019 2018
$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Staff costs (342) (661) (342) (661)

Contributions to CPF (45) (89) (45) (89)

Rental expenses (46) (117) (46) (117)

Website expenses (14) (27) (14) (27)

Depreciation of property, plant equipment (Note 9) (2) (5) (2) (5)

Amortisation of intangible assets (Note 14) (16) (26) (16) (26)

(a)  Revenue recognised during the financial year from:

Group Institute
2019 2018 2019 2018
$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Amounts included in contract liability at beginning of
   the financial year 3,476 3,755 3,472 3,752

(b)  Disaggregation of revenue

Group Institute
2019 2018 2019 2018
$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Timing of transfer of good or services

At a point in time 2,176 1,715 1,982 1,544

Over time 21,494 22,486 20,727 21,736

23,670 24,201 22,709 23,280

(c)  Transaction price allocated to remaining performance obligations

The aggregate amount of transaction price allocated to the unsatisfied (or partially unsatisfied) performance obligations 
as at 31 December 2019 is $477,000 (2018: $217,000). The Group and Institute expect to recognise $477,000 (2018: 
$217,000) as revenue relating to the transaction price allocated to the unsatisfied (or partially unsatisfied) performance 
obligations as at 31 December 2019 in the financial year ending 31 December 2020.

The Group applies the practical expedient in FRS 115 and does not disclose information about its remaining 
performance obligation if the performance obligation is part of a contract that has an original expected duration of 
one year or less.
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6  SURPLUS BEFORE RESULTS OF ASSOCIATE 

Group Institute
2019 2018 2019 2018
$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Expenses
Advertisement expenses 641 687 641 688

Amortisation of intangible assets (Note 14) 337 324 337 324

Bad debts written off 4 19 22 19

Depreciation of investment properties (Note 11) 302 302 302 302

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment (Note 9) 398 336 393 331

Depreciation of right-of-use assets (Note 10) 2,137 – 2,137 –

Direct costs of providing training and other courses 2,732 2,944 2,716 2,928

Finance cost 5 4 5 4

Interest expense on lease liabilities 65 – 65 –

Intangible asset written off 5 – 5 –

Loss on disposal of financial assets at FVTPL 26 – 26 –

Net fair value loss with respect to financial assets at FVTPL – 629 – 629

Property, plant and equipment written off 13 4 13 4

Rental expenses 30 1,922 28 1,920

Repair and maintenance 337 301 337 301

Publications 434 431 434 431

Seminar and talk expenses 1,070 1,143 1,035 1,113

Staff costs (Note 7) 12,896 12,070 12,232 11,494

Website and IT expenses 859 741 822 713

7  STAFF COSTS

Group Institute
2019 2018 2019 2018
$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Salaries and bonuses 11,281 10,522 10,710 10,022

Contributions to CPF 1,327 1,284 1,248 1,215

Other employee benefit expenses 288 264 274 257

12,896 12,070 12,232 11,494
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8  INCOME TAX EXPENSE

Income tax expense attributable to results is made up of:

Group Institute
2019 2018 2019 2018
$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Current income tax provision 271 115 268 111

Deferred tax 72 256 72 256

Under/(over) provision in respect of previous financial years:

-  current income tax 47 1 46 –

-  deferred income tax (23) – (23) –

367 372 363 367

The income tax expense on the results of the financial year varies from the amount of income tax determined by applying 
the Singapore statutory rate of income tax to surplus before tax due to the following factors:

Group Institute
2019 2018 2019 2018
$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Surplus before tax 5,373 2,917 5,358 2,877

Tax calculated at a tax rate of 17% 913 496 911 489

Singapore statutory stepped income exemption (21) (32) (17) (26)

Income not subject to tax (637) – (637) –

Expenses not deductible for tax purposes 112 176 111 176

Benefits from previously
   unrecognised capital allowances – (236) – (236)

Benefits from previously unrecognised tax  
losses and donations (13) (26) (13) (26)

Effect of tax incentive and tax rebate (16) (11) (15) (10)

Deferred tax assets not recognised 5 4 – –

Under provision in respect
   of previous financial years 24 1 23 –

367 372 363 367

At the balance sheet date, the Group has unutilised tax losses of $52,000 (2018: $41,000). These are available for carry 
forward to offset against future taxable income, subject to the agreement of the tax authority and compliance with the 
relevant provisions of the Income Tax Act. 
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9  PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Group
Furniture
and office
equipment Computers Renovation Total

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Cost
Balance at 1 January 2018 1,301 1,629 984 3,914

Additions 25 192 – 217

Written off (9) (94) – (103)

Balance at 31 December 2018 1,317 1,727 984 4,028

Transfer to right-of-use assets  (Note 10) – – (302) (302)

Additions 50 484 – 534

Written off (294) (33) (294)  (621)

Balance at 31 December 2019 1,073 2,178 388 3,639

Accumulated depreciation and impairment
Balance at 1 January 2018 766 1,381 361 2,508

Depreciation charge for the financial year 102 153 86 341

Written off (5) (94) – (99)

Balance at 31 December 2018 863 1,440 447 2,750

Transfer to right-of-use assets  (Note 10) – – (153) (153)

Depreciation charge for the financial year 116 183 101 400

Written off (281) (33) (294) (608)

Balance at 31 December 2019 698 1,590 101 2,389

Carrying amount
Balance at 31 December 2018 454 287 537 1,278

Balance at 31 December 2019 375 588 287 1,250
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9  PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (CONT’D)

Institute
Furniture
and office
equipment Computers Renovation Total

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Cost
Balance at 1 January 2018 1,296 1,591 984 3,871

Additions 25 192 – 217

Written off (9) (86) – (95)

Balance at 31 December 2018 1,312 1,697 984 3,993

Transfer to right-of-use assets
  (Note 10) – – (302) (302)

Additions 50 484 – 534

Written off (294) (33) (294) (621)

Balance at 31 December 2019 1,068 2,148 388 3,604

Accumulated depreciation
Balance at 1 January 2018 765 1,354 361 2,480

Depreciation charge for the year 102 148 86 336

Written off (5) (86) – (91)

Balance at 31 December 2018 862 1,416 447 2,725

Transfer to right-of-use assets (Note 10) – – (153) (153)

Depreciation charge for the year 115 179 101 395

Written off (281) (33) (294) (608)

Balance at 31 December 2019 696 1,562 101 2,359

Carrying amount
Balance at 31 December 2018 450 281 537 1,268

Balance at 31 December 2019 372 586 287 1,245
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9  PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (CONT’D)

Depreciation charge is taken up as follows:

Group Institute
2019 2018 2019 2018
$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income:

-  Other income - CA Qualification net administrative fee (Note 5) 2 5 2 5

-  Operating expenses (Note 6) 398 336 393 331

400 341 395 336

Group and Institute

Included in additions of property, plant and equipment of the Group and Institute is an amount of $398,000 (2018: $58,000) 
payable to a third party. The cash outflow on additions to property, plant and equipment of the Group and Institute was 
$194,000 (2018: $158,000).

10  RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS

Lease 
property

Office 
equipment Total

$’000 $’000 $’000

Group and Institute

Cost
Balance at 1 January 2019 – – –

Recognition of right-of-use assets on initial application of FRS 116 1,532 165 1,697

Transfer from property plant and equipment (Note 9) 302 – 302

As at 1 January 2019, restated 1,834 165 1,999

Additions 6,008 – 6,008

Balance at 31 December 2019 7,842 165 8,007

Accumulated depreciation and impairment
Balance at 1 January 2019 – – –

Transfer from property plant and equipment (Note 9) 153 – 153

As at 1 January 2019, restated 153 – 153

Depreciation charge for the financial year 2,098 39 2,137

Balance at 31 December 2019 2,251 39 2,290

Carrying amount
Balance at 31 December 2019 5,591 126 5,717

Balance at 1 January 2019 (restated) 1,681 165 1,846
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11  INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

Group Institute
2019 2018 2019 2018
$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Cost
Balance at 1 January and 31 December 15,122 15,122 15,122 15,122

Accumulated depreciation
Balance at 1 January 3,730 3,428 3,730 3,428

Depreciation charge (Note 6) 302 302 302 302

Balance at 31 December 4,032 3,730 4,032 3,730

Carrying amount
Balance at 31 December 11,090 11,392 11,090 11,392

(a)  The following amounts are recognised in profit or loss:

Group Institute
2019 2018 2019 2018
$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Rental income from investment properties 957 941 957 941

Direct operating expenses arising from investment 
 properties that generated rental income (161) (154) (161) (154)

Depreciation charge (302) (302) (302) (302)

(b)  In accordance with the Constitution of the Institute, the freehold building is held by Institute of Singapore Chartered 
Accountants Pte. Ltd. in trust for the Institute.

Location   Floor area Tenure
      (Square metres)

6 Raffles Quay 941 Freehold
#23-00
Singapore 048580
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12  SUBSIDIARIES AND INTRA-GROUP TRANSACTIONS

(a)  Investments in subsidiaries
 

Institute
2019 2018
$’000 $’000

Unquoted equity shares, at cost –* –*

  * Amount of $3.

(b)  Details of subsidiaries are as follows:

Country of Principal
Effective interest 
held by the Group

Name of subsidiaries incorporation activities 2019 2018
% %

Association of Taxation 
   Technicians (S) Limited(1)(2)

Singapore To administer the
  structured training
   program and to set and
   to manage the syllabus
   and examination which
  will lead to the
   Diploma in Taxation

100 100

Institute of Singapore
   Chartered Accountants Pte. Ltd.(2)

Singapore To undertake and perform
   the office and duties of
   trustee of and for the
  ISCA in accordance
   with the constitution of
  the ISCA

100 100

Held by Institute of Singapore Chartered Accountants Pte. Ltd.

Singapore Institute of Accredited Tax 
   Professionals Limited(1)(3)

Singapore Accreditation body for
   tax professionals

100 100

ISCA Cares Limited(1)(4) Singapore To provide needy
   Singapore youths access
   to quality accountancy
   education through
   pecuniary and
   non-pecuniary assistance

100 100

(1) There is no cost of investment as the subsidiaries are companies limited by guarantee whereby every member of the company undertakes to 
contribute to meet the debts and liabilities of these subsidiaries in the event of its liquidation up to an amount not exceeding $10 for each member 
except for ISCA Cares Limited up to an amount not exceeding $1 for each member.

(2) These subsidiaries are considered to be wholly-owned subsidiaries of the Institute as the members of these subsidiaries are trustees of the Institute.
(3) In the event of winding up or dissolution, any remaining assets after satisfaction of debts or liabilities, of the Singapore Institute of Accredited Tax 

Professionals Limited shall be given or transferred in equal proportions to the Institute or some other institution or institutions having similar objects 
to the company or to some charitable objects.

(4) ISCA Cares Limited is an approved Institution of a Public Character and its fund balance is disclosed separately on balance sheet of the Group  
(Note 25).
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12  SUBSIDIARIES AND INTRA-GROUP TRANSACTIONS (CONT’D)

(c)  Intra-group transactions

During the financial year, the Institute has the following significant transactions with the subsidiaries on terms agreed 
between the parties:

Institute
2019 2018

$’000 $’000

Income

Management fees 157 160

Seminar and talk fees – 3

Expenditure

Disbursement of expenses 6 6

Donation to ISCA Cares Limited 2 6

The Institute, as part of supporting ISCA Cares Limited (the “Charity”) contributed 2,074 hours (2018: 2,335 hours) to 
support the administration of the Charity for the financial year ended 31 December 2019.

13  ASSOCIATE

Group Institute
2019 2018 2019 2018

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Investment in associate 88 95 – –

Details of associate are as follows:

Country of Principal
Effective interest 
held by the Group

Name of associate incorporation activities 2019 2018
% %

Insolvency Practitioners
  Association of Singapore Limited*

Singapore Professional body 
   for insolvency 
   practitioners

50 50

* There is no cost of investment as the associate is a company limited by guarantee whereby every member of the company undertakes to contribute to 
meet the debts and liabilities of the company in the event of its liquidation to an amount not exceeding $10 for each member.
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13  ASSOCIATE (CONT’D)

The summarised financial information of the associate based on its audited financial statements and reconciliation to the 
carrying amount of the investments in the consolidated financial statements is as follows:

2019 2018

$’000 $’000

Revenue 101 34

Loss after tax (15) (24)

Non-current assets 4 1

Current assets 216 213

Current liabilities (45) (24)

Net assets 175 190

Group’s share of net assets based on proportion of ownership 
interest, representing net carrying amount of investment 88 95

During the financial year, the Institute has the following transaction with the associate on the terms agreed between the 
parties:

Group and Institute
2019 2018
$’000 $’000

Management fee income 15 15
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14  INTANGIBLE ASSETS 

Computer
software Others Total

$’000 $’000 $’000

Group

Cost
At 1 January 2018 2,106 150 2,256

Additions 17 77 94

Adjustment (12) – (12)

At 31 December 2018 2,111 227 2,338

Additions 142 135 277

Written off (239) (14) (253)

At 31 December 2019 2,014 348 2,362

Accumulated amortisation
At 1 January 2018 1,110 66 1,176

Amortisation charge for the financial year 302 51 353

At 31 December 2018 1,412 117 1,529

Amortisation charge for the financial year 283 74 357

Written off (234) (14) (248)

At 31 December 2019 1,461 177 1,638

Carrying amount
At 31 December 2018 699 110 809

At 31 December 2019 553 171 724
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14  INTANGIBLE ASSETS (CONT’D)

Computer
software Others Total

$’000 $’000 $’000

Institute

Cost
At 1 January 2018 2,083 150 2,233

Additions 17 77 94

At 31 December 2018 2,100 227 2,327

Additions 130 135 265

Written off (239) (14) (253)

At 31 December 2019 1,991 348 2,339

Accumulated amortisation
At 1 January 2018 1,110 67 1,177

Amortisation charge for the financial year 300 50 350

At 31 December 2018 1,410 117 1,527

Amortisation charge for the financial year 279 74 353

Written off (234) (14) (248)

At 31 December 2019 1,455 177 1,632

Carrying amount
At 31 December 2018 690 110 800

At 31 December 2019 536 171 707

Amortisation charge is taken up as follows:

Group Institute
2019 2018 2019 2018
$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income:

-  Other income - CA Qualification
     net administrative fee (Note 5) 16 26 16 26

-  Operating expenses (Note 6) 337 324 337 324

ISCA Cares Fund 4 3 – –

357 353 353 350

Computer software comprises membership, financial management and administrative systems.

Others comprise intellectual property, website development and development costs of E-Learning platform, including 
development costs of the educational system and curriculum contents.

Included in additions of intangible assets of the Group and Institute are payable to a third party of $48,000 (2018: $13,000) 
and $48,000 (2018: $Nil) respectively. The cash outflows on additions to intangible assets of the Group and Institute were 
$242,000 (2018: $94,000) and $218,000 (2018: $94,000) respectively.
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15  FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS
 

Group and Institute
2019 2018

$’000 $’000

Financial assets measured at FVTPL

- Quoted equity investment in the United Kingdom – 240

- Funds placed with fund managers 50,570 46,875

50,570 47,115

The above instruments offer the Group and Institute the opportunities for returns arising from fair value gains/loss measured 
at fair value through profit or loss.

16  INVENTORIES

Group Institute
2019 2018 2019 2018

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Medallions 15 15 15 15

Notebooks – 1 – –

Merchandise for E-store 4 4 4 4

Pouches 2 3 – –

21 23 19 19

17  CONTRACT ASSETS

Contract assets relate to the Group’s and the Institute’s rights to consideration for work completed but not billed at the 
reporting date.

Judgements are used to estimate the man hours to complete. In making these estimates, management has relied on past 
experience of completed projects. The estimated total contract costs is reviewed every reporting period and adjusted 
where necessary, with the corresponding effect of change being recognised prospectively from the date of change.

2019 2018 1.1.2018

$’000 $’000 $’000

Group
Trade receivables from contracts with customers 1,010 1,551 1,657

Contract assets 365 239 369

Institute
Trade receivables from contracts with customers 1,124 1,800 1,907

Contract assets 365 239 369

Contract assets have increased due to unbilled amounts for the Group’s and Institute’s practice monitoring review services 
and administrative fee income from CA Qualification of $40,000 (2018: decrease of $130,000) and $86,000 (2018: $Nil) 
respectively for the financial year ended 31 December 2019.
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18  CONTRACT LIABILITIES

Contract liabilities comprise of course fees and subscription fees received in advance from participants and/or members 
for courses or events organised by the Group or the Institute and members annual fee, respectively. Contract liabilities are 
recognised as revenue as (or when) the Group and the Institute satisfy the performance obligations under its contracts.

Group Institute
2019 2018 1.1.2018 2019 2018 1.1.2018
$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Contract liabilities 2,524 3,476 3,755 2,519 3,472 3,752

Contract liabilities have decreased mainly due to a reduction in the advances received from subscription fees of $1,063,000 
(2018: $79,000), partially offset by an increase in the advances received from course fees of $111,000 (2018: a reduction of 
$201,000) in the financial year ended 31 December 2019.

19  TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

Group Institute
2019 2018 2019 2018
$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Trade receivables

- third parties 994 1,534 900 1,529

- subsidiaries – – 208 254

-  associate 16 17 16 17

1,010 1,551 1,124 1,800

Non-trade amount due from a subsidiary – – 47 96

Deposits 534 489 534 489

Interest receivables 44 32 31 26

Prepayments 774 573 720 533

Recoverable administrative costs – 654 – 654

Others 319 313 312 302

2,681 3,612 2,768 3,900

Non-trade amount due from a subsidiary is unsecured, interest-free and repayable on demand.
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20  CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

Cash and cash equivalents consist of cash, bank deposits and bank balances.

Group Institute
2019 2018 2019 2018

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Interest bearing accounts 16,203 13,234 14,382 11,561

Non-interest bearing accounts 1,678 2,500 1,005 1,747

17,881 15,734 15,387 13,308

Less: Fixed deposits pledged (66) (66) (66) (66)

Cash and cash equivalents per Statements of Cash Flows 17,815 15,668 15,321 13,242

Included in interest bearing accounts of the Group and Institute are fixed deposits amounting to $14,553,000 (2018: 
$11,976,000) and $12,935,000 (2018: $10,376,000) respectively which are placed for varying periods between 1 to 12 months 
(2018: 1 to 18 months) depending on the immediate cash requirements of the Group and the Institute, and earn interest of 
0.25% to 1.85% (2018: 0.25% to 1.90%) per annum. Fixed deposits of the Group and Institute amounting to $66,000 (2018: 
$66,000) are pledged to bank for banking facilities.

Included in interest bearing accounts of the Group is the bank balance of ISCA Cares Fund amounting to $687,000 (2018: 
$553,000), of which $23,000 (2018: $27,000) is held in the bank balance of the Institute.

21  DEFERRED TAX LIABILITIES

Movements in deferred tax liabilities during the financial year were as follows:

At 1 
January 

2018

Recognised 
in profit
or loss

At 31 
December 

2018

Recognised 
in profit 
or loss

At 31 
December 

2019
$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Group and Institute

Deferred tax liabilities:
Difference in depreciation for tax purposes 72 (275) (203) (54) (257)
Provisions and accruals 113 27 140 5 145
Others 8 (8) – – –

193 (256) (63) (49) (112)
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22  LEASE LIABILITIES

Group Institute
2019 2018 2019 2018
$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Non-current

Lease liabilities (secured) 3,729 – 3,729 –

Current

Lease liabilities (secured) 1,997 – 1,997 –

5,726 – 5,726 –

Reconciliation of movements of liabilities to cash flows arising from financing activities

Lease
liabilities

$’000

Balance at 1 January 2019 –

On adoption of FRS 116 1,697

Additions 5,998

Changes from financing cash flows:

 - Repayments (1,969)

 -  Interest paid (65)

Non-cash changes:

 -  Interest expense 65

Balance at 31 December 2019 5,726

23  PROVISIONS

Provisions for dismantlement, removal and restoration costs have been recognised as a consequence of lease arrangement 
entered into for its office and training premises.

Movements in provisions are as follows:

Group Institute
2019 2018 2019 2018
$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

At beginning of financial year 322 318 322 318

Unwind of discount 6 4 6 4

Provision made 10 – 10 –

At end of financial year 338 322 338 322

The provisions represent the present value of management’s best estimate of the future outflow of economic benefits that 
will be required to reinstate leased property to its original state. The estimates have been made on the basis of quotes 
obtained from external contractors. The unexpired term of the lease including the renewal options range is 3 years (2018: 
7 years).
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24  TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES

Group Institute
2019 2018 2019 2018
$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Trade payables 1,064 911 1,058 897

Amount due to a subsidiary – – 23 29

Accrued operating expenses 2,597 2,789 2,480 2,679

Accrual for unutilised annual leave 544 515 527 501

Deposits received 239 239 239 239

Billings in advance 349 260 255 256

Grants received 256 400 256 400

5,049 5,114 4,838 5,001

Amount due to a subsidiary is non-trade in nature, unsecured, interest-free and repayable on demand. Included in trade 
payables of the Group and Institute are consultancy fee payable amounting to $21,000 (2018: $140,000) and $21,000 (2018: 
$127,000) respectively which relate to the implementation of membership and financial management systems.

25  ISCA CARES FUND

Group
2019 2018
$’000 $’000

At beginning of financial year 559 443

Donations received

-  Tax deductible receipts 192 193

-  Non-tax deductible receipts 5 10

Donations-in-kind – 2

Other income

-  Fund raising activity 78 –

-  Government grant 5 –

-  Miscellaneous sales 6 16

-  Interest income 8 3

Cost of notebooks and pouches (2) (3)

Bursary awards (110) (87)

Administrative expenses (29) (18)

At end of financial year 712 559
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25  ISCA CARES FUND (CONT’D)

Group
2019 2018
$’000 $’000

Represented by:

Non-current assets

Intangible assets 16 9

Current assets

Cash and cash equivalents 687 553

Trade and other receivables 13 12

Inventories 2 3

702 568

Total assets 718 577

Current liabilities

Trade and other payables, representing total liabilities (6) (18)

Net assets 712 559

The purpose of the ISCA Cares Fund is to provide needy Singapore youth with academic potential, access to quality 
accountancy education through financial and non-financial assistance. Pursuant to the Memorandum of Association of 
ISCA Cares Limited, if upon the winding up or dissolution of the company or in the event of the company ceases to be a 
registered charity, the fund balance shall be donated to charitable organisations or Institutions of a Public Character with 
similar objectives in Singapore.

26  SIGNIFICANT RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

In addition to the information disclosed elsewhere in the financial statements, the Group/Institute have the following 
significant transactions between the Group/Institute and related parties during the financial year on terms agreed by the 
parties concerned.

Key management personnel compensation comprise:

Group Institute
2019 2018 2019 2018
$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Short-term employee benefits 2,121 1,815 2,121 1,815

Contribution to CPF 141 108 141 108

2,262 1,923 2,262 1,923
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27  COMMITMENTS

(a)  Lease commitments - where the Group is a lessee

The Group and the Institute lease properties and office equipment from non-related parties under non-cancellable 
operating lease agreements. These leases have an average tenure of between one to six years, varying terms, 
escalation clauses and renewal options.

The future minimum lease payments under non-cancellable operating leases contracted for at balance sheet date, but 
not recognised as liabilities, are as follows:

Group and Institute
2018
$’000

Within one year 1,596

After one year but within five years 143

As disclosed in Note 3, the Group and the Institute have adopted FRS 116 on 1 January 2019. These lease payments 
have been recognised as right-of-use assets and lease liabilities on the balance sheet as at 1 January 2019.

(b)  Lease commitments - where the Group is a lessor

The Group and the Institute lease out office premises to non-related parties which are under non-cancellable operating 
leases.

The future minimum lease receivables under non-cancellable operating leases contracted for at the balance sheet 
date but not recognised as receivables, are as follows:

Group and Institute
2018

$’000

Within one year 957

After one year but within five years 3,845

Above five years 181

(c)  Capital commitment

  Capital commitment not provided for in the financial statements:

Group Institute
2019 2018 2019 2018

$ $ $ $

Capital commitment in respect of intangible assets 17 19 – –

(d)  Other commitment - Institute

As at 31 December 2019, the Institute has provided continuing financial support of $20,000 (2018: $9,000) to a subsidiary 
in net liability position.
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28  LEASES

(a)  The Group and the Institute as a lessee

Nature of the Group’s and the Institute’s leasing activities

The Group and the Institute lease property and office equipment from non-related parties under non-cancellable 
operating lease agreements. These leases have an average tenure of between one to six years, varying terms, 
escalation clauses and renewal options.

The maturity analysis of the lease liabilities is disclosed in Note 29(b). 

Information about leases for which the Group is a lessee is presented below:

Carrying amount of right-of-use assets

The carrying amount and additions of right-of-use assets are disclosed in Note 10.

Amounts recognised in profit or loss

2019
$’000

Depreciation charge for the financial year
Lease property 2,098
Office equipment 39
Total 2,137

Interest expense on lease liabilities 65

Group Institute
$’000 $’000

Lease expense not included in the measurement of lease liabilities
Lease expense - short term leases (Note 6) 30 28

Total cash flow for leases amounted to $1,999,000 and $1,997,000 by the Group and the Institute respectively.

Extension option

The property lease agreement contains an extension option, for which the related lease payments had not been 
included in the lease liabilities as the Group is not reasonably certain to extend the lease. These are used to maximise 
operational flexibility in terms of managing the asset used in the Group’s operations. 

(b)  The Group and the Institute as a lessor

The Group and the Institute leased out its investment properties to a third party for monthly lease payments. The 
lease is classified as an operating lease because the risk and rewards incidental to ownership of the assets are not 
substantially transferred.

Rental income from investment properties is disclosed in Note 11.
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28  LEASES (CONT’D)

(b)  The Group and the Institute as a lessor (cont’d)

The following table shows the maturity analysis of the undiscounted lease payments to be received:

Group and Institute
2019
$’000

Within one year 935
After one year but within five years 3,059
Above five years –

29  FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

(a)  Categories of financial instruments

  Financial instruments at their carrying amounts as of the balance sheet date are as follows:

Group Institute
2019 2018 2019 2018
$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Financial assets

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 50,570 47,115 50,570 47,115

Financial assets at amortised costs 19,788 18,773 17,435 16,675

70,358 65,888 68,005 63,790

Financial liabilities

At amortised cost 9,404 3,604 9,304 3,509

(b)  Financial risk management

The main risks arising from the Group’s financial management are interest rate risk, credit risk, liquidity risk, price 
risk and foreign currency risk. The Group reviews and agrees policies for managing each of these risks and they are 
summarised below:

Credit risk

The Group’s and the Institute’s exposure to credit risk arises from the failure of a customer or a counterparty to settle 
its financial and contractual obligations to the Group, as and when they fall due. The Group manages this risk by 
monitoring credit periods and limiting the aggregate financial exposure to any individual counterparty.

The Group and the Institute do not have significant credit risk exposures. 

The Group and the Institute place cash and fixed deposits with the established banks and financial institutions in 
Singapore.
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29  FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONT’D)

(b)  Financial risk management (cont’d)

Credit risk (cont’d)

The following sets out the Group’s internal credit evaluation practices and basis for recognition and measurement of 
expected credit losses (“ECL”):

Description of evaluation of financial assets Basis for recognition and measurement of ECL
Counterparty has a low risk of default and does not have 
any past due amounts

12-month ECL

Contractual payments are more than 30 days past due or 
where there has been a significant increase in credit risk 
since initial recognition

Lifetime ECL - not credit-impaired

Contractual payments are more than 1 year past due or 
there is evidence of credit impairment

Lifetime ECL - credit-impaired

There is evidence indicating that the Group has no 
reasonable expectation of recovery of payments such as 
when the debtor has been placed under liquidation or has 
entered into bankruptcy proceedings, cannot be located or 
are not recoverable despite legal recourse made to recover 
the debt, and reminders and warning letters issued for 
debts due for more than 12 months

Write-off

Significant increase in credit risk

In assessing whether the credit risk on a financial asset has increased significantly since initial recognition, the Group 
compares the risk of a default occurring on the financial asset as at the reporting date with the risk of a default 
occurring on the financial asset as at the date of initial recognition. In making this assessment, the Group considers 
both quantitative and qualitative information that is reasonable and supportable, including historical experience 
and forward-looking information, such as future economic and industry outlook that is available without undue cost  
or effort.

In particular, the Group considers the following information when assessing whether credit risk has increased 
significantly since initial recognition:

•  an actual or expected significant deterioration in the financial instrument’s external (if available) or internal  
credit rating;

•  significant deterioration in external market indicators of credit risk for a particular financial instrument, e.g. a 
significant increase in the credit spread, the credit default swap prices for the debtor, or the length of time or the 
extent to which the fair value of a financial asset has been less than its amortised cost; and

•  an actual or expected significant deterioration in the operating results/key financial performance ratios of the 
debtor.

The Group regularly monitors the effectiveness of the criteria used to identify whether there has been a significant 
increase in credit risk and revises them as appropriate to ensure that the criteria are capable of identifying significant 
increase in credit risk before the amount becomes past due.

The Group also assumes that the credit risk on a financial instrument has not increased significantly since initial 
recognition if the financial asset is determined to have low credit risk at the reporting date.
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29  FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONT’D)

(b)  Financial risk management (cont’d)

Credit risk (cont’d)

Definition of default

The Group considers an event of default for internal credit risk management purpose. Management considers 
that default has occurred when a financial asset is more than 1 year past due unless the Group has reasonable and 
supportable information to demonstrate that a more lagging default criterion is more appropriate.

Credit-impaired financial assets

A financial asset is credit-impaired when one or more events that have a detrimental impact on the estimated future 
cash flows of that financial asset have occurred such as evidence that the borrower is in significant financial difficulty, 
there is a breach of contract such as default or past due event; there is information that it is becoming probable that 
the borrower will enter bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation; the disappearance of an active market for that 
financial asset because of financial difficulties; or the purchase or origination of a financial asset at a deep discount 
that reflects the incurred credit losses.

Estimation techniques and significant assumptions

There has been no change in the estimation techniques or significant assumptions made during the current financial 
year for recognition and measurement of credit loss allowances.

Trade receivables and contract assets

The Group has applied the simplified approach to measure the lifetime expected credit loss allowance for trade 
receivables and contract assets.

The contract assets relate to unbilled work-in-progress, which have substantially the same risk characteristics as the 
trade receivables for the same type of contracts. The Group has therefore concluded that the expected loss rates 
for trade receivables are a reasonable approximation of the loss rates for the contract assets. Trade receivables and 
contract assets that shared the same credit risk characteristics and days past due are grouped together in measuring 
the expected credit losses.

The Group estimates the expected credit loss rates for each category of past due status of the debtors based on 
historical credit loss experience adjusted as appropriate to reflect current conditions and forecasts of future economic 
conditions.

There has been no change in the estimation techniques or significant assumptions made during the current financial 
year.

A trade receivable is written off when there is information indicating that there is no realistic prospect of recovery from 
the debtor such as when the debtor has been placed under liquidation, has entered into bankruptcy proceedings, 
cannot be located or are not recoverable despite legal recourse made to recover the debt, including reminders and 
warning letters issued for debts due for more than 12 months.

The Group and Institute assessed the latest performance and financial position of the counterparties, adjusted for the 
future outlook of the industry in which the counterparties operate in, and concluded that there has been no significant 
increase in the credit risk since the initial recognition of the financial assets. Accordingly, the Group and Institute 
measured the impairment loss allowance using 12-month ECL and determined that the ECL is insignificant.

Other financial assets at amortised cost

Other financial assets at amortised costs include other receivables and cash and cash equivalents.

Credit risk exposure in relation to other financial assets at amortised costs as at 31 December 2019 is insignificant, and 
accordingly no credit loss allowance is recognised as at 31 December 2019.
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29  FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONT’D)

(b)  Financial risk management (cont’d)

Liquidity risk

In the management of liquidity risk, the Group and the Institute monitor and maintain a level of cash and bank balances 
deemed adequate by the Management to finance the Group’s and the Institute’s operations and mitigate the effects 
of fluctuations in cash flows.

The table below summarises the maturity profile of the Group’s and the Institute’s non-derivative financial liabilities at 
the balance sheet date based on contractual undiscounted repayment obligations.

 2019  2018 

$’000 $’000
1 year
or less

1 to 5
years

Over 5
years Total

1 year
or less

1 to 5
years

Over 5
years Total

Group
Trade and other 

payables
   (excluding lease 

liabilities) 3,678 – – 3,678 3,604 – – 3,604

Lease liabilities 2,144 3,864 – 6,008 – – – –

Institute
Trade and other 

payables
   (excluding lease 

liabilities) 3,578 – – 3,578 3,509 – – 3,509

Lease liabilities 2,144 3,864 – 6,008 – – – –

Interest rate risk

The Group and the Institute are exposed to interest rate risk through the impact of rate changes on interest bearing 
fixed deposits. The sensitivity analysis for changes in interest rate is not disclosed as the effect on profit or loss is 
considered not significant.
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29  FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONT’D)

(b)  Financial risk management (cont’d)

Price risk

Market price risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of the Group’s and the Institute’s financial instruments 
will fluctuate because of changes in market prices (other than interest or exchange rates). The Group and the Institute 
are exposed to equity price risk arising from its investment in quoted equity instruments. These instruments were 
quoted on the London Stock Exchange and were classified as financial assets at fair value through profit or loss. 
To manage price risk arising from investment in quoted equity instruments, the Group and the Institute diversify its 
portfolio in accordance with the limits set by the Group.

Sensitivity analysis

The sensitivity analysis for price risk is not disclosed if prices for equity securities change by 2% with all other variables 
being constant, as the effect on profit or loss is considered insignificant.

Funds placed with fund managers comprise a portfolio of equity instruments, debt instruments, derivatives and cash 
and cash equivalents.  The Group and the Institute are exposed to changes in market prices, interest rate risk and 
foreign exchange risk with respect to its funds placed with fund managers. Fair values of debt instruments at fixed 
rates may fluctuate due to changes in market interest rates. A 2% increase/(decrease) in the fair value of the portfolio 
at the balance sheet date would increase/(decrease) the Group’s and the Institute’s profit or loss by $1,011,000 (2018: 
$937,000).

Foreign currency risk

The Group’s and the Institute’s foreign currency risk results mainly from cash flows and transactions denominated in 
foreign currencies. It is the Group’s and the Institute’s policy not to enter into derivative forward foreign exchange 
contracts for speculative purposes except for the use as hedging instruments where appropriate and cost-efficient. 
The Group does not apply hedge accounting.

  The Group and the Institute have no significant financial assets and liabilities held in foreign currency.

30  FAIR VALUE OF ASSETS AND LIABILITIES

(a)  Fair value hierarchy

The tables below analyse the fair value measurements by the levels in the fair value hierarchy based on the inputs to 
the valuation techniques. The different levels are defined as follows:

a) Level 1 - quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities;

b) Level 2 - inputs other than quoted prices included within Level 1 that are observable for the asset or liability, either 
directly or indirectly (i.e. derived from prices); and

c) Level 3 - inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on observable market data (unobservable inputs).
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30  FAIR VALUE OF ASSETS AND LIABILITIES (CONT’D)

(b)  Fair value measurement of assets that are measured at fair value 

  The following table presents the assets measured at fair value at 31 December 2019.

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Recurring fair value measurement

2019
Group and Institute
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

-  Funds placed with fund managers – 50,570 – 50,570

2018

Group and Institute

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

-  Quoted investment 240 – – 240

-  Funds placed with fund  managers – 46,875 – 46,875

(c)  Assets and liabilities not carried at fair value but which fair values are disclosed

Fair value measurement
at balance sheet date

Carrying
amount Level 1 Level 2 Level 3
$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

2019
Group and Institute
Investment property 11,090 – – 29,000

2018

Group and Institute

Investment property 11,392 – – 28,000

The above does not include financial assets and financial liabilities whose carrying amounts are measured on the 
amortised cost basis. The carrying amounts of these financial assets and financial liabilities approximate their fair 
values due to their short-term nature.
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30  FAIR VALUE OF ASSETS AND LIABILITIES (CONT’D)

(d)  Determination of fair values

Fair values have been determined for measurement and/or disclosure purpose based on the following methods:

Quoted equity security

The fair value of quoted equity investments is based on quoted market prices at the balance sheet date. The instrument 
is included in Level 1.
 
Funds placed with fund managers

The fair values of funds placed with fund managers are determined based on market prices provided by financial 
institutions at the balance sheet date. These instruments are included in Level 2.

Investment property

The fair value is determined based on the property’s highest and best use by an external and independent professional 
valuer using the Direct Comparison Approach, under which the properties are assessed having regards to the recent 
transactions within the development and around the vicinity. Appropriate adjustments have been made between 
comparables and the subject property to reflect the differences in size, tenure, location, condition, prevailing marketing 
and all other factors affecting their value. The fair value measurement is categorised under Level 3 of the fair value 
hierarchy.

31  FUND MANAGEMENT

The Group’s and the Institute’s objectives when managing the accumulated fund and ISCA Cares Fund are to safeguard 
the Group’s and the Institute’s ability to maintain adequate working capital, to promote its objective to lead, develop and 
support accountancy professionals in Singapore and uphold the public interest and these objectives remain unchanged 
from previous year.

32  SUBSEQUENT EVENTS

(a)  An outbreak of Coronavirus Disease (COVID-19) had been reported in the People’s Republic of China on 31 December 
2019. At the date of these financial statements, while the outbreak has been most severe in East Asia and elsewhere in 
the world, it has spread to Singapore. While the full impact to the Group and the Institute cannot be quantified reliably, 
the Group’s and Institute’s performance subsequent to the balance sheet date may be negatively impacted as a result 
of restrictions on travel, quarantine and/or illness of employees, loss of participants at conferences and events, supply 
chain disruptions, and other forms of interruptions to business.

(b)  On 16 January 2020, the Council of the ISCA had approved to withdraw ISCA as a member of Singapore Institute of 
Accredited Tax Professionals Limited (“SIATP”). This is to enable SIATP to be an independent professional body. ISCA 
will not receive any consideration for the withdrawal. The net assets of SIATP as at 31 December 2019 amounted to 
$1,501,000. The results of SIATP from 1 January 2020 up to point of withdrawal from ISCA are not expected to have a 
significant financial effect.

33  AUTHORISATION OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The consolidated financial statements of the Group and the financial statements of the Institute for the financial year ended 
31 December 2019 were authorised for issue by the Council on 5 March 2020.

ISCA
annual report 2019/2020 107Visionary

Excellence

For the financial year ended 31 December 2019

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONT’D)



NOTICE OF ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING 2020

NOTICE is hereby given that, in accordance with Article 78 of the Constitution of the Institute, the Annual General Meeting (AGM) 
2019/2020 of the Institute of Singapore Chartered Accountants will be held on Saturday, 25 April 2020 at 11.00 am via a virtual 
meeting platform. 

[NB: In light of the COVID-19 situation and the Singapore Government’s stricter measures to reduce the risk of community spread 
by limiting large crowd gathering in close proximity, the AGM will be conducted virtually. Members must first register to attend 
the virtual AGM. Details pertaining to the online registration and the virtual AGM will be provided via an Electronic Direct Mail 
on 1 April 2020.]

AGENDA

1.   President’s address.

2.   To confirm the minutes of the Annual General Meeting 2018/2019 held on 27 April 2019.

3.   To receive the Report of the Council for the year 2019/2020 and Financial Statements of the Institute for the year ended 31 
December 2019.

4.   To elect eight members to the Council in accordance with Article 32 of the Constitution comprising:

(a)  At least 3 CAs (Singapore) who are Public Accountants to hold office for a term of two years;
(b)  At least 3 CAs (Singapore) who are not Public Accountants to hold office for a term of two years.

The following members of the Council retire in accordance with the provisions of Articles 49 to 51 of the Constitution:

Chartered Accountants of Singapore who are  
Public Accountants

Chartered Accountants of Singapore who are not  
Public Accountants

Mohammad Shariq Sayeed Barmaky 
Kon Yin Tong
Marcus Lam Hock Choon
Henry Tan Song Kok

Dennis Chia Choon Hwee 
Lai Chin Yee
Lelaina Lim Siew Li
Yiong Yim Ming

Nominations have been received for the following:

Chartered Accountants of Singapore who are  
Public Accountants

Nominated by

Mohammad Shariq Sayeed Barmaky Philip Yuen Ewe Jin
Cheung Pui Yuen
Ho Kok Yong
Lee Boon Teck
Rankin Brandt Yeo

Kon Yin Tong Ling Guo Leng
Rindawaty
Ong Ghim Khee
Elizabeth Sit Wei Man
Cheong Soh Mei

Marcus Lam Hock Choon Kok Moi Lre
Kevan Goh
Tan Bee Nah
Theresa Sim
Lee Zhen Jian

Henry Tan Song Kok Loh Hui Nee
Meriana Ang Mei Ling
Lee Look Ling
Titus Kuan Tjian
Chan Siew Ting
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Chartered Accountants of Singapore who are not  
Public Accountants

Nominated by

Dennis Chia Choon Hwee Mohamed Syahid Bin Mohamed 
Yang Ching Bin
Kenneth Chew Swee Leong 
Ivy Lu Jiamin 
Tan Saw Cheng

Lai Chin Yee Choh Wai Ling
Yeo Lik Khim
Kum Chew Foong
Lee Caroline
Lim Yue Li

Lelaina Lim Siew Li Wayne Hwang Zi Yao
In Peishan
Indrayani Manan
Wee Chin Lian
Gerard Ee Hock Kim

Yiong Yim Ming Ong Siew Toh
Lo Mun Wai
Chu Joon Choong
Goh Ko Hin
Ching Soo Ling

5.   To re-appoint Messrs Baker Tilly TFW LLP as Auditors of the Institute for the financial year ending 31 December 2020 and to 
authorise the Council to fix their remuneration.

By order of the Council

KELVIN TAN WEE PENG
Secretary
1 April 2020
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FORM OF PROXY

THE SCHEDULE
RULE 34

THE INSTITUTE
(GENERAL MEETINGS) RULES

I, ,
(Full Name in Block) NRIC /Passport Number 

(last 3 digits and alphabet only)

of
(Full Address)

being a member of the Institute, do hereby appoint:

Name Address NRIC /Passport Number
(last 3 digits and alphabet only)

or failing him/her

Name Address NRIC /Passport Number
(last 3 digits and alphabet only)

each of whom is a CA (Singapore) of ISCA as my proxy to vote for me at the Annual General Meeting of the Institute to be held 
on 25 April 2020 and any adjournment of such meeting.

Signature of member:

Dated this      day of 2020

NOTES:  A Member entitled to vote may appoint as his proxy any other Member who is entitled to vote except that no member 
shall be entitled to vote by proxy in the election of a member or members of the Council.

    [Rule 33, Institute (General Meetings) Rule]

    The proxy shall not be entitled to vote at a meeting unless the instrument of proxy has been deposited with the Chief 
Executive Officer not less than 48 hours before the date and time fixed for the meeting.

    [Rule 37, Institute (General Meetings) Rules]




